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Summary

A watching brief was carried out arcund the irmer gatehouse of
Buckden Palace durirng the construction of rew drains and
soakaways. The most commorn find was building debris consisting
of red brick fragments, stone, yvellow mortar and gravel. This
would appear to be moderwn, dating to the 13th and 20th centuries,
and much of it may relate to the rebuilding of part of the
gatehouse and other parts of the Falace in the late 13th century.
Buildimg foundations of earlier periods were not revealed and
nathing was seen during the comstruction work worthy of preserva-—
ticr. Two of the socakaways appear to have cut through the 13th
Certury refill of the mcoat, although this carrmot be prover.

Introduction

Buckden Falace, a Scheduled Arncient Mornmument, was built as a
house for the Bishops of Lincolr and much of what remains dates
to the late 13th Century. It comprises a complex of red-brick
buildirgs which are rather striking inm appeararnce. The current
cwrers are the Claretian Missionaries, who are alsos the main oo—
cupants.

A proposal was put forward to convert the irnmer gatehouse of  the
Falace, presently unoccupied, into a series of small flatlets.
Much of the work invalved restoraticon of the internal fabric of
the building, the saouthern half of which is a grade I listed
building. Recording of this was carried cut by Cambridgeshire
Coumty Counmcil Conservation Section. A further reguirement was
the comstruction of new drains and socakaways arcound the outside
of the building and below some of the floors. This provided an
cpparturnity to look cut for the fourdations or remains of earlier
buildirgs om this site.

We would like tao thanmk HKeystore Architects and Desigrers for
Hurding the archaeaolcgical work and alsc Alarn Smith Ltd, Building

Contractors, for their co—operatiorn.

The Setting

Gecgraphy and Geclogy

Buckder FPalace is located in the centre of Buckdern, a village ap-—
proximately 6km  scuthwest of Hunmtiwmgdorn. It lies or the east
side of the «ld Great Northernm Road (A1), row re-routed west of
the village, and was therefore in a useful location for travell-
irng clerics and others. The building is sited on relatively flat
ground, and the underlying geology is river gravel (3rd terrace).
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History

The history of Buckdern Falace has beern writtern in detail else-

where, so only a brief summary is given here. It was built as a
house for the Bishops of Lincolr at a time whern the Diccese of
Lincolrn extended southwards to the River Thames. Buckder itself

was nroted inm the Domesday Survey as being a Manor belorging ta
the Bishops of Lincoln. The first house to be mentiorned inm  the
records  was apparently built of timber anmd was in use during the

episcopate of Hugh of Lincoln in the late 12th certury. It was
replaced irn 1225 AD by Hugh de Wells, but burmt down in 1231, A
rew house was immediately constructed. Most of the currermt red

brick FPalace, however, dates to the late 15th Cerntury and much of
the work was dorne by Bishop Thomas Rotherham and Bishop Johm Rus—
sell. Bishop Russell was resporsible for the irnrmer gatehouse and
his arms carn be seern an the fromt of it. The main compornents of
the Falace were: an outer gatehouse, ar  irmey gatehouse, the
Great Tower, the Great Hall, the Great Chamber and the Chapel.
These features, except the outer gatehouse were ernclosed by a
moat. The Falace stayed under the cwrnership of the church until
1870, except for two brief interludes in the 1&th amd 17th Cer—
turies. It was ther takern over by the Claretiarn Missicraries in
1387, who still own it today. During the last few cernturies,
marny parts of the complex have beern rerncovated, and saome
demclished and cccasiomally rebuilt. In 1838, about half of the
mainm buildings were demolished, ircluding the northern  part  of
the irmer gatehouse which was later rebuilt. Irn 1870, the moat,
which rarn along the west (outer) side of the irnrer gatehouse was
filled in.

)

Frevious Archaeclogical Fieldwork

It is reported inm the Parish File of 1926 (RCHM) that the fournda-—
tiorns of the Great Chamber, Chapel arnd parts of the Hall date to
the 13th cerntury, as does a wall excavated ocutside these struc—
tures, which may have formed the fourth side of a courtyard.
These may have been the origirnal fourndations of the house built
by Hugh de Wells, which burnt down in 1391, If so, it implies
that the houses of the Bishops' charged little in locatiom over
the centuries. It is mnoted in *History of EBuckden Falace?
(author unackrnowledged) that Dy, R.H. Edleston, who cwned the
property from 13913, was very interested in the past and carried

ot excavations. It would appear that he excavated the brick
pier and abutment of the eastern sparn of the bridge which crossed
the moat just cutside the irrmer gatehouse. He may also be

responsible  for the archaeclogical work carried ocut on the Great
Chamber, Chapel arnd Hall.
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egy of Fieldwork

irmer gatehouse, arcund which the watching brief teook place,
made up of two parts; the scutherr half dates from the late

century and is a grade I listed building. The rorthern

s @riginally of the same date, was demclished in 1838 and
uilt later inm the 19th century. This section is a grade 11
ed building. The watching brief was carried cut during the

avation of trerches for drains and soakaways (see site plan

their locaticm). Fhotographs were takern and sketch secticns
wri at appropriate places. Features to watch for were the
rdatiorns o remains of earlier Bishops' houses,

the original
t of the irnrer gatehcuse armd the moat.

e major rew drain ran along the inrmer (east) side =f the build-
with perperndicular offsets runming into the building. The
renches were small, approximately 3Scm  deep and 40cm wide.
cthing of any interest was seen in the sections, probably
ause the treriches were so shallow. Building rubble, compyising
hole and fragmerts of red brick, vellow mortar, gravel, and co-
asicral pieces of store were seern in the dark browrn  loam  top-—
=il This rubble was unstratified and loocked modern; of the
Fth and Z0th Centuries. Mar—holes were constructed at varicus
ntervals, but they were rao deeper tharn the drain trernches.
nodery cement was seen in the secticnm of cre, the fills
X@ing the same as im the drain trerches.

be—

Some
ctherwise

ections were watched where drain lires cut through floors imside
he building. Iv room G13, at the rorth end of the gatehouse,
e layer of moderr red bricks was seern directly bereath the
loor,  with dark brown loam belcow. Room G3 is in the Grade I
isted ernd of the buildirg, which dates t= the 15th Cerntury. A
rair cut through the wooden floor of the [a=I=11 but the sections
fshowed post-medieval, probably moadern material, including scome
flat, red tiles or bricks, approximately 4cm thick, with a layer
of yellow and brown sand belaow, including moderate stores and
fragmerts of chalk or clunch. Scme small fragments of red
brick, approximately Zcm across were seen at the scuth end.

The Scakaways

The soakaway trernches, beirig larger than the
Produced more interesting sections.
aut on numbers 2 - 5,

drain trernches,
A watching brief was carried
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Numbers & and 3 were located on the ocuter (west) side af the
gatehouse, and it was hoped that some eviderce might be found for

the mzat, which was filled inm in 1870. Its exact width and
locatior, however, is urnknowr. A bridge crossed the moat im-
mediately cutside the entrarce gate, with the water rurming
thraough an arch, the very top of which carn be seen cpposite

(riocvth of) scakaway 2. Orly the curving top of the uppermaost
bricks can be seer.

Socakaway &: 1.8 x 1.%m sguare and 1. 4m deep. The edges of the
mrat were rot revealed and there were no structures, such as wall
fourdatioms or floors., There was a band of tarmac shawing in the
south  sectiorm  and part of the west sectiaon, S53cm dowr., Above
that was dark brown silty loam comtainming freguent pebbles. Ap—
proximately 80cm below the surface in the west arnd rorth secticns
was a layer of gravel, appraximately 1Scm thick. Alsa in the
north sectiorn, 40cm from the surface was a  barnd  1%cm deep of
light brown silt anmd gravel coritaiming fragments or red brick arnd
mortar, This barnd slopes dowrn slightly towards the sast. Oc-—
casicrnal fragments of red brick and tile were found throughout
the fill, arnd &ll the material looks  moderr (13th or 20th

Cernturies). It is hypothesized that this scakaway is lacated in
the middle of the moat, and thus cuts through the 19th century
fill. The edges of the mocat are beyond the east armd west limits

of the scakaway.

Scakaway  3: located to the rorthwest of the gate was 2.0 x 2. 4m
sguare and Z.4m deep. It was the most imteresting of the
soakaways, sirce it produced some dramatically sloping stratig-—
raphy. This was particularly clear in the east =zecticrn (see
drawing), where layers of buildirg debris carn be seer slumping
down together from south teo morth, These comprise the following
layers from top  to bottom: yvellow mortar and gravel of urmeven
aeppth; brown silty sarnd, appraoximately 1Scm thick; red brick
debris, 20-30 cm thick; and light grey-brown sand with fragmernts
of red brick anmd clurich. Eelocw these slumpirng layers was a
depasit of dark brown silty sand with cccasicral fragmernts of
martar and chalk.

Or the cpposite, west side of the scakaway, the layer aof red
brick debris canm be seen sloping down ever more sharply from
south to wnorth, with a gradient of approximately 1 in 2.
Stratigraphically abave it is a homogernecus fill of dark brown
silt with few inclusicons. The red brick layer is alsa  seen  in
the south section, where it is horizontal, as is the band of yel-—
low  mortar  and gravel seen in the east sect iar. The latter is
alsc seen in the rorth secticr, but the red brick layer must run
below the bottom of the trench. Near the top of the rcrth sec—
tion was a layer of tarmac, and in the west section, a feint anrd
narraw  layer of light grey sarnd. These look post-medieval or
maxderr and two pieces of post-medieval pottery were also  fournd.
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It is likely, as in rio. & above, that this scakaway also cuts
through the 19th Cenmtury moat fill and that the sides of the meoat
have riot been reached. The slumping stratigraphy may reflect how
material was thrown intc the moat in the 19th Century; pecple
could  have stood on top of the bridge facing north, and chucked
ir buildirng debris. Such building debris would be plenmtiful at
this time, sivrce demolition, renovatiocnm and reburilding were
takirig place. Ar alternate explarnation for this stratigraphy is
that a large pit or feature was constructed immediately to  the
north of the soakaway, and that all the stratigraphy slumped down
as a result. This stratigraphy, however, would still comprise
the deliberate infill of the moat.

Scakaway 4: was constructed just beyornd the rorthers end of  the
gatshouse, which dates to the 12th Century. It was 2.2 x 1.7m
square and 1l.&m deep, arnd produced nothing of particular  inter—
est. Some large grey stones up to 35cm acrcoss, were seern im-
mediately undermneath the grass in the topscil, dark brown silty
loam. Some had worked edges or faces, and they would appear to
be left aver from the buildimg of the rnorth end of the gateshouse.
Rurming alorng the east section of the trerwch, ZScm  belaw the
ground surface, was a wall or fourndation of coarse concrete, =4

cm thick. A make-up level for this features lay directly belaow,
and ocomprised a mixture of concrete, pebbles and =soil. A very
similar wall can be seern on the ground surface, about Tm to the
west and parallel to it. They would appear to go together, ard

are modern, but their furcticonm is umkrnowr.

R it or cut was revealed in the southwest correr, contalning
black material which looks like tarmac, with fragments of brick
and mortar. The feature is &0cm deep, and the top is ZEcm below
gound  surface. It might be related to the comstruction of the
courtyard car park, o evern the more recent car parks to the
“orth. Ire the south, east and west secticorns, is a band of yvellaw
sand, again looking very moderrn, approximately 1.8m below ground

surface and contirnmuing below the bottom of the trench. These
sections otherwise cormtairved brown silty sard corntaining a mix-—
ture of mortar, brick and pebbles. The rorth secticorm was very

uninformative due to root action.

Scakaway S: located east of the gatehouse, was 1.9 x &.8m square

ard 1.35m deep. It cut through the car park tarmac om the east
side. Fraom approximately 13 to 30cm down, on all sides, was &
layer corntaining red brick fragments, pebbles and mortar. This

resembled that seern in the cut for the draiwm runmning along  the
east side of the building. In the rnorth section was a feinmt dark
layer, appraoximately Scm thick arnd 80cm below ground level, which
swept up at the west end. This could be some sort of feature.
There was a lerns of gravel directly above it. The rest of the
material irn this secticn arnd alsc inm  the south sectiorn was
yellow—brown silty sand. The east sectiocnm contained a little
more stratigraphy, there being a chamge in the correr bhetween the
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north  and  east secticns. Urderrieath the ubiguitcus layer ceon-—
tairing red brick fragments and yellow mortar were bards, irn de-
scendirng crder of: yelleow sarnd, grey-braown silt, yellow sand and
velloaw—brown samnd. There was a brokern lernse =f tarmac between
the latter twao layers arnd the whole section may comprise make-—up
levels for the car park.

The drairn trerches constructed between the soakaways armd the
sides of the building were alss watched and nxthing of irnterest
was observed. The deposit contairing red brick fragmerts arnd
vellow mortar was seern throughout.

Conclusion

This watchirg brief, which involved locking in dispersed and
mainly small trerches arcund the irnner gatehouse of Buckden
Falace, produced little of archaeclogical interest, arnd certainly
nothing worthy of preservation. As far as could be seern, all the
material revealed was of the 19th cr =0th Centuries, probably a
reflection of the amount of rernovation, demolition and rebullding
which took place at that time.

The scakaways or the west side of the gatehouse, g La= z and 3,
appear to have cut through the 13th century fill of the moat, al-
though this is difficult to prove without finding the edges of
the moat. It would be a useful exercise irn the future, if permis-—
sicom ard furding were granted, to excavate a trernch laid aut
acrose the proposed lime of the moat anmd Find its exact locabioem
ard dimensiocns.
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